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‘Into the Heart is a powerful and gripping detective story about Tasmania’s deep and recent past and why it matters today. It is a subtle exploration of Aboriginal history, a profound reflection on the place of Tasmania in world conversations about human evolution, and an intriguing journey in quest of understanding. Historian Rebe Taylor pursues an English collector on ship, foot and bicycle as he sets out to plumb the mystery of human origins; she eavesdrops on his conversations and sifts all the clues that he has left behind—in Britain and the antipodes, in the archive and the field, in language and places, and in words and stone. As we look over his shoulder, the people he is studying come surprisingly into focus. Perhaps only now can we understand the stories they are trying to tell.’
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Author note



With the exception of names of ancestors, Aboriginal names and words in this book appear in lower case. This follows the style of palawa kani, the revived form of the original Tasmanian Aboriginal languages, a program led by the Tasmanian Aboriginal Centre. I respect that some writers prefer to place Tasmanian Aboriginal language names in italics, but for consistency I have used only roman text.


This book uses the terms ‘Aboriginal’ and ‘Aborigines’ rather than ‘Indigenous’. This is the preference of the Tasmanian Aboriginal community. Other names for Aborigines also appear in the context of their times. Some of these names are not, by today’s standards, always appropriate. In repeating these names I do not mean any disrespect or to cause offence to present peoples.


Into the Heart of Tasmania also includes scientific theories about, and descriptions of, Aboriginal culture and people that belong to other writers and other times. Some of these theories, like the older names for Aborigines, are not, by today’s standards, appropriate. Even some relatively recent scientific ideas may appear culturally insensitive. In quoting these ideas and by repeating older names for Aborigines I do not mean any disrespect or to cause offence to the Tasmanian Aboriginal community.


I also wish to remind readers that while this book describes collecting thousands of stone tools, it is illegal to interfere with, or to remove any Aboriginal cultural artefacts from anywhere in Tasmania.





Prologue: The gift



kutalayna, Tasmania, 17 April 2011


The smoke curls around his grey beard, his ochred cheeks, through his curly hair, into his blue eyes. He welcomes it, fans it so it drifts over those gathered around the fire, listening in silence. And then he speaks, softly:




yah ta wah ti wah warrawah (greetings from the spirits).


mena lagata nala neminah tagarilia coyetea nena (I tell you our Earth Mother family loves you).


palingina mouheneenner walantanalinany (welcome to mouheneenner Country all round).


We are here today to heal this place, kutalayna, our community, and everyone in Brighton. We will leave kutalayna in a graceful way to show respect to our ancestors, and ourselves who have conducted our protest with strength and grace.


… I ask the spirits to heal kutalayna, heal the Tasmanian Aboriginal community and, all of the people of Brighton. Our struggle has been a long one to protect kutalayna, and our struggle continues.





The construction workers and the police are watching, waiting for the ceremony to end before they start work. Before they arrest him.


He is nearly finished. He takes a packet from his pocket, and opens it with care: ashes, gathered from the fire at the Aboriginal Tent Embassy at Old Parliament House, Canberra, which burns day and night. He spreads them over the crackling branches: ‘This is a symbol of our sovereignty, and pride in our heritage.’


It is done. His son falls in by his side. The group circles around them, offering solace and protection. They begin to walk out. The police stand solid in thick leather jackets, black gloves and sky-blue hard hats. The protestors approach slowly. A thin young man dressed only in a white loincloth and his sister in a black singlet and an apron of furs are painted head to toe in ochre; a stark contrast to well-attired police.


They are not allowed to pass. A brave and professional young woman makes a plea for the use of police discretion; they will leave quietly. But the decision has already been made.


He knows this. The standoff is pointless. He asks his community members to stand aside, and to let him and his son pass through, and they are led away to the waiting paddy wagon.
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In April 2009 the Tasmanian State Government had begun construction of the Brighton Bypass, a 9.5-kilometre road, costing $191 million, to divert traffic off the Midland Highway, away from the Hobart suburbs of Brighton and Pontville. The bypass would have to cross the Jordan River. The proposed site for a bridge was kutalayna, known to the Tasmanian Aboriginal community as a long-time seasonal meeting place of the mouheneenner people. In September 2009 the protestors had prevented construction starting. Twenty were arrested. By February 2010 the government commissioned archaeologists to determine the age and significance of the site. The University of Melbourne determined an age for the sediments and artefacts at the bottom of the excavation of about 41,000 years. This is ‘the oldest site in Tasmania, and among the oldest in Australia’. In fact the age of kutalayna is ‘beyond the first southern expansion of Homo sapiens elsewhere in the world’.1


The Aboriginal community campaigned to reroute the bypass without success. By December 2010, they set up a protest camp to prevent construction. Some non-Aboriginal locals supported it, others slowed their cars down as they passed so they could lower their windows and spit at the protestors. The owners of the land adjoining the site would build a bonfire, crack open some beers and make a lot of noise.


Aaron Everett, an Aboriginal Heritage Officer, lived on the site for nearly a year. The sit-in cost him his job. He was arrested four times, and his father, Jim Everett, three times. By early 2011, both were under court orders not to enter the site. But in mid April 2011 Aaron phoned his dad, who was up on Flinders Island in the Bass Strait, and told him to fly back to Hobart and come to kutalayna. Tomorrow. They had one day to heal the site before the bulldozers came. Before it was too late.


When Jim walked back onto kutalayna, he did so with hurt and a sense of loss. But still he sought the healing for all, even those who did not ask for the gift, who perhaps did not deserve it. It was given quietly, in the knowledge that few would ever learn about it. It was given without the expectation of reciprocity.


I have known Jim for over fifteen years. He has inspired and assisted my writing, guided my understanding of history, and been a key part of my education. This book is written in the spirit of reciprocity for what he has given, and what other Tasmanian Aboriginal people have also given me, including Clinton Mundy, Patsy Cameron and Greg Lehman.


At first it seems an odd sort of a gift. It begins with the journey of an Englishman to Tasmania nearly a century ago to collect stone tools. To the living Aboriginal community the removal of artefacts is wrong—as Clinton Mundy reiterated to me, ‘No stone tools should ever have been taken from anywhere in Tasmania, at any time in history.’ Ernest Westlake took away over 13,000 artefacts, creating the largest single collection of Tasmanian stone implements ever formed, and as he did so he assumed that the Tasmanian Aborigines were the most primitive race on earth and that they were extinct.


Westlake shared the blindness of his generation, of his scientific discipline, and of his Empire. Yet, through his story, we are led to see what the collector could not perceive: an Aboriginal people with a complex culture and a deep past. We are led into the living, beating heart of Tasmania.





The decision



London, 1908


Ernest Westlake walked up the broad steps of the British Museum and, passing through that famous colonnade, stepped into a cramped and busy entrance hall. He did not follow the other visitors to see the Egyptian and Greek antiquities towering in the ground-floor galleries, but took the most direct route to where his interests lay. Up the Principal Staircase, lined with first-century Indian Buddhist carvings, he entered the Central Saloon. British Iron Age arrowheads, Bronze Age helmets and Neolithic stone axes regressed down to the prehistoric stone tools from British and French caves; made by the ‘races of men of whom we have no history’.1 The Early Stone Age was his particular enthusiasm, but knowing this room well he walked on, past the swords of the Anglo-Saxon Room and the tea sets in the Asiatic Saloon, until he reached the entrance to the Ethnographical Gallery.


Five open-ended galleries stretched before him, extending almost the length of the eastern wing of the Museum’s upper floor. At once elongated and dense, the gallery reflected the spread of Empire. Glass cases reached up the walls and across the floors, each case packed with objects from the colonised world. Their origins were indicated in red on maps that hung from their doors; a guidebook sketched out their contents. On the right in the second and third rooms were artefacts from the ‘brown races’ of Micronesia and Polynesia: feather-work cloaks and helmets from Hawaii and jade paddle-shaped battleaxes from New Zealand. On the left, the collections from the ‘black races’ of the Pacific, Melanesia and Australia: boomerangs and spear throwers described as the ‘inventions among tribes who had no knowledge of the bow’.2 Near these wooden implements hung the ‘portrait of a Tasmanian belonging to a now extinct race’.3 A black man looked out from under a helmet of thick and matted hair, dressed in skins and shell necklaces, and holding a spear.4
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One of the ethnographical galleries, British Museum, Donald Macbeth, 1908 [© The Trustees of the British Museum]


Then Westlake’s attention was arrested. It was a display he had not seen before, at least not this large and varied: a hundred stones, packed together under the peaked glass roof of a floor cabinet, where he could gaze down upon them. Some were no bigger than his thumbnail, others almost as big as his fist. They varied in shape—round, spherical, square, squat, tall, peaked and pointed—and were an assortment of colours: pearly white, sandy brown and even hard black. They had been broken for reasons that made the cabinet seem absurd: to crack a bone, skin a wallaby, prize open an oyster. The map on the cabinet indicated the island of Tasmania, southeast of mainland Australia. A few pasted labels offered the opaque names of towns and beaches: ‘Port Sorell’, ‘Ironhouse’, ‘Westwood’.5


The pieces of stone made a sudden and inspiring impression upon him. They reminded him of stones he knew well, stones he had collected and held in his hands in a warm and quiet valley in the Auvergne region, central France. They shared the same rough, chipped angles and shapes, as if they had been made without plan or design. In France he had turned the stones over in his hands in wonder, unsure and excited, the sun on his back, the village church bell tolling in the distance: had he really found the tools of an unknown Stone Age race?


That question had driven him to keep exploring. Westlake dug down to a geological depth he estimated to be 100,000 years old. He unearthed a mass of tools. French customs stopped him on his way home, complaining he was taking too much of ‘the soil of France’. He reduced the collection from 100,000 to 4000 artefacts. He was yet to present the evidence to the scientific community, but he could already hear the sceptics: the Auvergne stones were naturally broken rocks; it was beyond reason to claim artefacts of such antiquity and crudity could be man made.


The stones in front of him now would prove that it was possible. If the Tasmanians had made stone tools of such simplicity, why not also the early Europeans? Culture was evolutionary; even the most advanced civilisation had to begin somewhere. The Tasmanian Aborigines had evidently not progressed; they had evidently been one of the most primitive races to have lived in modern times. But that made their tools so useful. They could authenticate his French artefacts. While the two cultures were admittedly remote in space and time, and the comparison between them could never be exact, it would be sufficiently close to prove the human origin of the European flint and to show that the level of culture was essentially the same.6


Westlake knew instantly what he must do. It was a big decision. He was a widower and his children were still young. He was financially independent, but no longer prosperous. But at stake was determining the true depth of European human antiquity. He must then, at the earliest opportunity, travel to Tasmania and bring back his own collection of Aboriginal stone tools.


Pitt Rivers Museum Annexe, Oxford, January 2000


I am the only researcher in the small archives reading room. Its upstairs window reveals none of Oxford’s romantic parapets or domes, just a dull and wintry Banbury Road. The archivist says little except to complain about the cold and I am left largely alone in my task. I wonder where to begin. Which box, which folder? I know almost nothing of this archive, or of the man who created it. I decide upon his letters, for they begin at the start of Westlake’s journey to Tasmania, and are written to those he loved: ‘My dear Children’, he unfailingly addressed them. Aubrey, fifteen, and Margaret, twelve, were living variously at school or with their uncle and his family. For nineteen months Westlake wrote to them at least once a week: eighty-five letters in all as he travelled from the docks at Liverpool, to Melbourne, across Tasmania and back to London. In the absence of a diary, they record Westlake’s journey and research.
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Letter from Ernest Westlake to Margaret and Aubrey Westlake, 24 September 1908 [© Pitt Rivers Museum, University of Oxford Pitt Rivers Museum Manuscript Collections, Westlake Papers, Box 2, Folder 1a, folio 6 recto]


Westlake travelled to some of the remotest parts of Tasmania during the age of steam. It took seven hours to travel from Hobart to Launceston by train. Many places could be reached only by boat. Westlake had a tent and rode a bicycle, which was sometimes loaded with several kilograms of stones. He walked when the terrain was too rough, or when his bicycle broke down. He slept on sand hills, under bushes, in sheds and abandoned houses. There were many months when Westlake was in Hobart, reading in the archives, or in Launceston, photographing stone tools. Then his letters took a reflective turn, and I learned about his political ideas, religious beliefs, even his dreams.


After several weeks of reading and transcribing in the cold reading room, I felt I knew this odd, clever and tenacious 50-something-year-old man. Then I turned to his field books. Six of them, each small enough to fit into a pocket, their pages often dense and not always easy to read, as if the notes were written on a knee or a makeshift table. The first one, however, was rather dull, neat and sparse: a collection of lists, names and notes, mostly without context. But the second began suddenly in the middle of an intense and personal recollection recorded by Westlake in November 1908: Truganini, the ‘Last’ of the Tasmanian Aborigines, was remembered as laughing and crying and scared of dying. Other memories, just as striking, followed: stories passed down from the ‘Black War’ of 1826–34 filled with blood and shootings, more recent memories of the Aborigines incarcerated on Flinders Island in the Bass Strait, and at the old convict station at Oyster Cove, south of Hobart. The notebooks reveal a community coming to terms with a difficult past at the beginning of a new century in a recently Federated nation. They are filled with repentant shame, are also littered with attempts to apportion blame, but foremost they emphasise that the history of settlement has ended. Westlake was reminded over and over again by the settler descendants he spoke to that the Aborigines had all gone; they were ‘extinct’.


But then I encounter the voices of living Aboriginal people, first on the islands of the Bass Strait—the children and grandchildren of the Aboriginal women and their Straitsmen husbands who pioneered the settlements from the early nineteenth century—and then at Nicholls Rivulet, south of Hobart—the children of Fanny Smith (née Cochrane), who had passed away in 1905. The little notebooks were filled with Aboriginal knowledge: word lists and phrases, plant foods, hunting methods, medicines, and spiritual practices and beliefs.


Westlake called the Islanders and the Smith family ‘half-castes’. He thought that the language and cultural information they gave him was useful, and was more than he had expected to find, but he called it ‘second hand’. He assumed it did not belong to the people who spoke of it, but to their parents or grandparents; those whom Westlake called the ‘Blacks’, and whose culture he presumed was extinct and gone.7 But how was it gone when he was writing it down? Why was this knowledge passed on if not so it would be kept and continued?


Westlake’s imperception was typical, but his tenacity was unique. His determination to uncover every possible source of information about Tasmanian Aborigines led him to find what other researchers before him had missed. No one previously had made the effort to visit the Smith family. Few thought it was worth going to see the Islanders. Those who did had been met with a silence that they assumed was ignorance, but was in fact born from mistrust, and an agreement not to share their cultural knowledge with outsiders. But Westlake was not shunned by the Islanders or by the Smith family. His archive is the richest collection of Tasmanian Aboriginal culture formed in the twentieth century, and offers a way to see and understand how that culture was retained and practised. But has its value been recognised?


An archive dismissed


In 1991, NJB Plomley, a historian and honorary research associate at the Queen Victoria Museum and Art Gallery in Launceston, published Westlake’s interview notes in the field books as The Westlake Papers. He edited Westlake’s notes substantially, cutting and moving text, but without indicating how, which makes his edition an unreliable source for researchers.8 Plomley also dismissed the value of Westlake’s interviews with Aboriginal people. He derogatively called them ‘half-castes’ and ‘mixed-bloods’. He thought the interviews with Fanny Smith’s children confirmed only that their mother had known ‘nothing of the Aboriginal way of life, and clearly had no wish to learn anything’. The interviews with the Bass Strait Islanders demonstrated to him that they had learned ‘nothing of the way of life of their Aboriginal forbears’. But for ‘few words’ the Aboriginal language had ‘clearly been lost, as well as almost everything else, quite early’.9


Plomley’s reading of Westlake’s papers was coloured by recent politics. From the 1970s the Tasmanian Aboriginal community began to publicly and stridently fight for rights to land and education, for the return of their ancestors’ bodies from museums, and for recognition that they were not extinct. Plomley was a conservative scholar who had spent his career researching their history. He did not believe they had the right to call themselves ‘Aboriginal’. He likened their ceremonial cremation of repatriated ancestral remains to the violence of the white settlers towards Aborigines on the early frontier.10 The invective seems out of place in the introduction to Westlake’s papers, but Plomley did not want to miss the opportunity to add his voice to a wider debate between Tasmanian Aboriginal people and the scholars who studied their cultural history.


Much of the hostility had begun with a controversy stirred by an Australian archaeologist. In 1965, Rhys Jones deduced that the first Tasmanian Aborigines had reached their island by foot, before the end of the last Ice Age, 10,000 to 12,000 years ago, when rising seas had created the Bass Strait. By 1977, Jones proposed that isolation had caused the Tasmanian Aboriginal culture to simplify.11 Then, as the narrator of the popular 1978 film The Last Tasmanian, Jones drew a figurative parallel between simplification and extinction, asking even if Europeans had never discovered Tasmania, had the Aborigines nonetheless been ‘doomed’ by the devastating effects of isolation?12 The idea caused a fracture between the Tasmanian Aboriginal community and the academy that lasted for decades.


Jones’s controversial thesis had an important connection to Westlake’s interviews. The notion of simplification hinged foremost on two supposed cultural losses: the ability to catch fish with scales and the art of making fire. But both Aboriginal and settler Tasmanians described knowledge of these skills repeatedly to Westlake, as Jones knew. He had been the first Australian scholar to study Westlake’s collections in the Pitt Rivers Museum. He later wrote that Westlake helped lay ‘the foundations for Tasmanian field archaeology’. It was perhaps the sheer size of the stone tools collection that prompted the compliment, for Jones dismissed Westlake’s evolutionary theory and his archive. He did, however, first read Westlake’s notebooks carefully. While Westlake never wrote down his questions, Jones had known that he had often asked, ‘Did the Tasmanians know how to make fire …?’13 Jones disregarded the answers because they dated over a century after first contact.


Jones was adhering to the parameters of his discipline. Historical sources had to be largely unaffected by the ‘tide of history’ for archaeologists to trust they could inform the deeper past. The requirement troubled Westlake, too. He was pleased and surprised by the wealth of information he was given in Tasmania, but he never saw it as a ‘pure’ or truly authentic record of Aboriginal culture. That, he assumed, had gone.


A new lifeworld


The threads of traditional continuity are present in Westlake’s papers. Many of the descriptions of cultural practice, including fishing and fire making, are echoed in far earlier historical records. What was changed by 1908 was the context of those traditions. Tasmanian Aboriginal people had indeed adapted, often in order to survive and endure.


Despite these changes, generations of Tasmanian Aborigines did hand down important traditional knowledge that present-day descendants continue to remember. Tasmanian Elder Patsy Cameron in her 2011 book Grease and Ochre, describes that out of her ancestral history—the Aboriginal women and their white husbands who pioneered the Bass Strait Island settlements—there emerged a new generation and community defined not by loss, but by the ‘transformative power’ of their island environment and of the ‘blending’ of their cultures, economies and traditions. This fusion created what Cameron calls a ‘new lifeworld’.14


Westlake’s interviews offer insight into that ‘lifeworld’ and to the handed-down traditional knowledge, revealing the ways Tasmanian Aboriginal cultural practices in both the islands and the Nicholls Rivulet communities had been maintained. But this realisation has only been possible to explain with the guidance of Tasmanian Aboriginal people. They include, among others, those whose ancestors pioneered the Bass Strait Islands: Patsy Cameron, Jim Everett and Buck (Brendan) Brown, and the descendants of Fanny Smith, Cheryl Mundy and Clinton Mundy. Their guidance has been crucial, for it has meant perceiving that which Westlake failed to see.


Westlake saw neither the depth of Tasmanian Aboriginal antiquity nor the wealth of its continued existence because he was looking for something else: the artefacts and facts that would validate an imagined phase of European history. Westlake did not understand the true value of his collections. In noting the discord between his intention and his actual achievement something is learned.


Westlake’s papers have taught me to ask myself: How do I see the past? How do I see Aboriginal peoples and cultures in the archive, or indeed, in the present? Am I looking in order to prove a point? To advance my discipline? To educate my fellow Australians? To even chastise them? None of these things are necessarily wrong, but it is important to consider how these goals might colour my vision. It is important to ask myself: Can I look into the past, or even at the present, can I cross cultures, and actually learn something new? Can I see what is before me? Can I actually see a new ‘lifeworld’?


It has been a long journey just to get to the point of asking these questions. But then, a journey that follows Westlake is full of curious and circuitous turns.



Sandy Balls, New Forest, Hampshire, April 2000



The taxi driver thought it was hilarious. ‘Sandy Balls?!’ he exclaimed, ‘Isn’t that what you get when you go to the beach?’ He found his own joke raucously funny. I found it added to my apprehension about what exactly I was doing going to an oddly named English caravan park, when I was meant to be researching Tasmanian Aboriginal history.


One of the first things I noticed when I arrived was a traditional ‘gipsy’ caravan parked near the entrance gate, complete with carvings, colourful paintwork and wooden front steps. Then I met Jean Westlake, the granddaughter of Ernest, whose house stood nearby. She explained to me that the caravan was bought by Westlake shortly before his marriage, with the dream that he and and his wife Lucy would travel, or even live in it. They never did, but Westlake always kept the caravan. He even lived in it during the final years of his life.


I spent several nights in Jean’s house. It was surrounded by a large permacutlure garden, which provided most of our vegetarian meals. Once outside the garden gate, we were in the Sandy Balls holiday park. It was run by her brother on land originally bought by Ernest Westlake in 1919 to host the Order of Woodcraft Chivalry. Westlake established the movement with his son Aubrey in 1916, as a nonmilitarist alternative to the Scouts, open to boys, girls and adults. The Order sought post-war regeneration by offering an opportunity to return to nature, and to learn the skills of woodcraft and the code of chivalric conduct lost through urbanisation and industralisation.


Jean’s historical tour began in the Sandy Balls Forest. I learned that its name was old and sensibly given; the land was a series of dunes created by an ancient river. Amid the dense fir trees Jean led me to a clearing, the ‘Folkmoot Circle’, where members of the Order, dressed in ceremonial robes and carrying heraldic banners, had gathered annually by a sacred fire. Jean loaned me a bike and we rode together past fields that had once grown the flax that Ernest Westlake’s father Thomas had turned into sailcloths in his nearby mill. We reached the village of Fordingbridge, where Ernest Westlake had been born, and we visited his first home, bearing a plaque commemorating that the ‘Father of the Order’ had been born there in 1856—as Jean pointed out, it was in fact 1855.


Next door stood the hall that his father had built to host evangelical services for the villagers and his workers. We then visited the impressive family home Thomas Westlake built after he made his fortune, the one his son lost through mismanagement. Ernest Westlake was a scientist with little knowledge of money. Our tour ended at the modest wooden cottage at Godshill, Ernest Westlake’s last home. Chris Charman, Westlake’s grandson through his daughter Margaret, lived there. Chris described Ernest Westlake as a ‘recluse’ who had struggled with even a casual conversation. The idea seemed at odds with the ‘Father of the Order’ who dressed in ceremonial robes. But then, across the space of a day and the radius of a few miles, my key impression of Westlake was one of contrasts and eccentricities.


By early summer, shortly before I was due to return to Australia, I learned that the Oxford University Museum of Natural History had recently acquired Westlake’s English stone tools and fossils collected from around the time he began his interest in geology in the 1870s to around 1900. When I requested to look through the related papers, I was surprised to be given only one box. The collection had been formerly held in the University of Southampton, where geologist Justin Delair had studied it at length. Delair’s two subsequent papers referenced archival papers I could not find in the single box I had been given.15 When I later met Delair, he assured me that there had to be more.


The day before I was due to fly out, I travelled with the Natural History Museum’s geology curator to Newham village, near Oxford, where the deconsecrated church was being used as a museum store. On the church’s upper floor we encountered Westlake’s English geological collection: a series of wooden boxes that created a wall as high as my head and the length of the large room. Over several hours we removed boxes containing letters, notebooks and other papers. I spent the remainder of the day in front of a photocopier in the Natural History Museum. It was not until I was back home that I was able to read the papers properly. I saw they contained, among other subjects, Westlake’s research notes into psychical phenomena, including dream premonitions and ghosts, as well as his plans to build a health sanatorium in outer London. I was reminded of what Justin Delair had warned me about Westlake: ‘He’s like a stone in a pond: the more you look, the more ripples you’ve got to chase’.16


Stories in Stone


I submitted my dissertation in 2005, but I felt my work on Westlake had only just begun.17 My PhD had not been able to capture all the ripples of Westlake’s life. Further, I knew from talking to Tasmanian Aboriginal people that it was important to their community to gain access to the unedited interviews. Plomley’s edition had not only cut and moved text around, but Westlake’s little sketches were missing, along with his marginalia and cross-references. Without his letters, Westlake seemed absent. Much is missing from Plomley’s publication, such as twenty-one tourist guides used by Westlake for travel in Tasmania, twenty exercise books filled mostly with Westlake’s notes from Tasmanian colonial records and newspapers, and 230 photographs of stone implements captured by Westlake in Launceston in 1909. Researchers with a range of interests might benefit from accessing his papers and I certainly thought no one else should have to try to piece together the various parts of Westlake’s life and unpublished archives as I had done.


In 2008, archivist Gavan McCarthy and I spent a week in the Pitt Rivers Museum, in a beautiful, new on-site reading room. Using a digital camera and portable lights, we captured the entire Westlake papers relating to his Tasmanian archive. Two years later, when I was pregnant with my second child, archivist Mike Jones returned to Oxford and, using the same camera and lights, captured the entire Westlake papers in the Oxford University Museum of Natural History. In 2013, Jones, McCarthy and I finally published Stories in Stone: An annotated history and guide to the collections and papers of Ernest Westlake (1855–1922), which includes more than 8000 images with added contextual historical information. Stories in Stone does not include Westlake’s papers relating to the Order of Woodcraft Chivalry, which are held in a separate archive and have been drawn upon to create a large two-volume history.18 All the references to Westlake’s papers in this book are discoverable in Stories in Stone. Of course, traffic may occur the other way: the archive might be the gateway into this book.


It is rare that a historian has their chief archive available online for readers. You can go and query my interpretation, or travel beyond my focus on his Tasmanian journey to carry out your own exploration of Westlake’s life and work. Indeed, I hope you do. Just beware the many ripples in the pond.





The collector



Ernest Westlake had spent his life dedicated to stones. He grew up and lived in Victorian rural England, but he occupied a more ancient world. He walked on the Roman roads of Hampshire’s New Forest, he found Palaeolithic stone artefacts in the newly cut railroad lines, and he saw fossils from ancient seas in the buttresses of his local church. The shape of a stone, the stratum in which it lay, revealed for Westlake millennia-long changes in a landscape and its place in the history of the world. Westlake was an amateur geologist, a gentleman scholar and a collector with a passion and enthusiasm beyond the ordinary.


Modern innovations granted Westlake’s view into the ancient past. From the early nineteenth century, industrial mining and rail works brought to light buried oceans and landforms and extinct animals and plants, offering geologists the ability to map the depth of earth’s history. From the realisation of deep geological time came a radical rethinking of human history.


The year Westlake turned four, 1859, Charles Darwin published On the Origin of Species, challenging Biblical creationism by linking humans to animals by the transmutation of species. In the same year, English geologists published reports that dated the earliest stone tools back to the last Ice Age (or Pleistocene), a time of woolly mammoths and glaciers.1 These revelations came at a time of expanding Empire and encounters with other cultures. Anthropology and archaeology emerged as disciplines of discovery and comparison, mapping human culture in technological stages from the ‘primitive’ Stone Age to the ‘advanced’ Industrial Revolution era. These developments became collectively known as the ‘Darwinian revolution’.2 Westlake grew up in its wake. He understood human history to be determined, progressive and successful. This view inspired and directed his lifework.


At University College London in the early 1870s, the young evangelical Quaker was asked to distinguish his faith from the rational exploration of science, and to question Creationism in favour of evolutionism. Westlake retained his devotion to Christ, but he returned home to Hampshire determined upon a career that would advance the knowledge and depth of human and geological history within an evolutionary framework. His first project was a history of his own county, followed by a survey of the chalk fossils of Britain. Westlake took to fieldwork with enthusiasm. He loved the outdoors and being alone. He never joined the academy and published little. His first desire, and his principle occupation, was collecting.


By the turn of the twentieth century, Westlake had amassed around 10,000 British stone tools and fossils—the collection I saw stacked in boxes in the upper floor of Newnham Church. It was the first of three huge collections that he would form. From 1901, Westlake began to search for stone tools that he believed pre-dated the Pleistocene.


In 1865, Sir John Lubbock set out in his Pre-Historic Times four ‘great epochs’ of prehistoric man: the Old Stone Age (the Palaeolithic) the New Stone Age (or Neolithic—distinguished by polished tools), the Bronze Age, and the Iron Age. It was not long after these definitions were established that some scientists found evidence for what they argued was human activity pre-dating the Palaeolithic epoch. Their evidence was the stone artefacts they called ‘eoliths’—eo meaning ‘dawn’ and lithic, ‘of stone’—but they were not universally accepted. While it was accepted that the Palaeolithic humans must have had ancestors, the question as to whether eoliths could be accepted as the evidence of their existence became one of the most heated and important debates for early archaeology. ‘Eolithic’ stone tools appeared much like rocks broken by natural causes, such as river water or shifting glaciers. The limits of the early archaeology made discerning the differences difficult. And the immense age of eoliths stretched the boundaries of reason.3


Westlake was convinced by his finds of Eolithic stone tools in Hampshire from 1901. His largest collection of eoliths, however, was formed in the Auvergne, discovered while on a cycling holiday in 1904. He spent several years excavating and transporting the collection, but he was yet to present his findings and try to convince the eolith sceptics, who by then far outweighed the supporters. It was this challenge that inspired Westlake’s instantaneous decision in the British Museum, when he was convinced that a comparison between the French and Tasmanian artefacts would demonstrate beyond all reasonable doubt that his eoliths were genuine, and that European human antiquity would thus be demonstrated to date back at least 100,000 years.


‘squeezing other races out of existence’


Westlake walked into the British Museum in 1908 a geologist. The project that the collections there inspired him to take on transformed him into an anthropologist. He took to the discipline with enthusiasm. He was accepted as a Fellow of the Royal Anthropological Institute of Great Britain in 1910, although he never regarded himself as a professional.4


When Westlake left England in 1908 he had no expert or extensive knowledge of the Tasmanian Aboriginal culture or history. The first ‘fact’ he would probably have known about Tasmanian Aborigines was what had made them famous among the British public: their supposed extinction. When he was fourteen years old, the death of the ‘Last’ Tasmanian Aboriginal man, William Lanne in Hobart, was reported widely in the British press. Lanne’s death was newsworthy not only because it supposedly marked the certain end to an entire race as a result of British colonisation, but also because of the scandalous mistreatment of his remains. Hobart hospital surgeons dissected Lanne’s body without authorisation and under the cover of night, and then sent his head, as arranged, to the Natural History Museum in London.5


Lanne’s mutilation caused public outrage in Hobart and internationally. When James Bonwick’s book The Last of the Tasmanians was published months later, there were staged public readings, extensive debates and discussions. The book outlined in detail the destruction of the Aborigines, and laid the blame squarely at the feet of the colonial government.


Westlake’s generation grew up with the story of Tasmania as a lesson in the cost and nature of colonisation. It was a lesson that was intended to evoke melancholy and regret. Westlake’s letters home from Tasmania echoed this sentiment, and his grandchildren remembered him speaking of such ‘shame’ years later.6 Westlake’s feelings were as much about the loss to science caused by extinction, but he also felt as a pacifist a genuine disquiet over the violence of the frontier. Westlake showed none of the triumph that British historian Tom Lawson observes was common among popular British responses to the supposed extinction. Even when regret was voiced, it was often ‘tinged with pride’ over the demonstrated ‘might’ of the Empire. Months after Lanne’s mutilation, The Times predicted with vainglorious relish, ‘English-speaking men are destined to cover the planet, squeezing other races out of existence … until, the red Indian promises to disappear and the aboriginal Tasmanian has actually vanished.’7


Westlake did not share the ‘colonial curiosity’ of many British, who sought out public displays of Tasmanian Aboriginal bones in museums. Their human remains were plundered covertly from graves, exchanged in ‘favours’ and deals, and housed in private and public collections the world over, but the desire was as much for the sake of possession as rare curiosities, trophies of superiority, as for any scientific intention.8 Westlake did, however, collect prints of the photographs taken of residents of the Oyster Cove Aboriginal Establishment while he was in Hobart, which are part of his archive. Circulated widely and repeatedly from the 1870s, these images became what Julie Gough reflects was the ‘enduring face of Aboriginal Tasmania for more than a century’; the representatives of a dying race.9


[image: image]


Residents of the Oyster Cove Aboriginal Station, Bishop Francis Nixon, around 1858–60. Back row (left to right): Drayduric (Sophia), Coonia (Patty), Drunameliyer (Caroline); front row: Wapperty, Meethecaratheeanna (Emma), Mary Ann Arthur (seated on chair), Calamarowenye (Tippo Saib), Plowneme (Flora), Truganini [National Library of Australia, nla.obj-140385483]


As a student of geology, Westlake would have encountered some references to the culture status of Tasmanians, which probably informed his immediate and certain appraisal of their stone tools in the British Museum. John Lubbock’s book was a foundation text for students of archaeology and geology, and it defined the term Palaeolithic for the first time. To illustrate the early Stone Age, Lubbock pointed to the ‘Van Diemaner’ (Tasmanian Aboriginal) as a representative culture.10 The idea may have been inspired by Edward Burnett Tylor, who apparently had seen the only Tasmanian stone artefact available in England a few years earlier, and concluded it to be at the same level of culture as European artefacts dating back to the recently discovered Pleistocene epoch. Tylor went on to transform nineteenth-century anthropology into a science through the application of evolutionary theory. One of his first books, the 1865 Researches into the Early History of Mankind and the Development of Civilization, was probably another of Westlake’s foundation texts, and it declared, ‘the Natives of Van Dieman’s Land, whose dismal history is closing in total extinction, are among the lowest tribes known to Ethnology’.11


Tylor’s conclusion anticipated a correlation between the ideas of extinction and ‘low’ cultural status that soon came to explain and justify the colonisation of Tasmania as a natural law of human progress. Charles Darwin’s 1871 book, The Descent of Man, which Westlake would certainly have encountered, explained the effects of colonisation in Tasmania in this way: ‘when civilised nations come into contact with barbarians the struggle is short,’ and ends in their ‘victory’, for the cultivation of land is ‘fatal … to the savages, for they cannot, or will not, change their habits’.12


Westlake did not translate Darwin’s conclusion into the justification or celebration of colonisation, but he did later expound upon the immutability of savages to adapt their ways. He remained throughout his career an adherent of human evolution and of the superiority of his own race.13 ‘The two best races of mankind are the Teutons and the Kelts,’ he wrote to his children from Tasmania. ‘The English are a mixture of the two and are therefore somewhat of an improvement on either of them.’14


Westlake understood his purpose in collecting Tasmanian stone was to demonstrate the antiquity, not the superiority, of European culture. But the assumumption of racial superiority underpinned his project. As Lawson observes, the Tasmanians’ supposed extinction was part of the British psyche. It was integral to shaping a sense of national identity ‘in which Britain was imagined to be at the apex of human development and progress’. Indeed, this imagined superiority ‘relied on the memory (and celebration)’ of the Tasmanians’ destruction.15


In the weeks before he left for Tasmania, Westlake returned to the British Museum Library and sought out references for the Tasmanian Aborigines. He had read the 1899 edition of Henry Ling Roth’s The Aborigines of Tasmania, which had been the first anthropological book on the subject, as well as several papers written by Tylor. Westlake may have been surprised, or perhaps reassured, that his thinking had synchronicity with the most eminent anthropologists of the day. Westlake took notes from one of Tylor’s papers, which stated that the Tasmanians’ stone tool culture was ‘inferior to that of the … Cave Men of Europe’.16 Westlake also quoted that their tools should be ‘judged’ at the same evolutionary stage of development as the ‘oldest and rudest sympathized implements’ found in Europe, ‘the plateau-flints of Kent’.17 As Westlake would have known, the Kent ‘flints’ were more commonly known as eoliths. They were the first such find to be made in England, by a storekeeper of the Ightham village in 1885.


It was not until Westlake reached Hobart that he learned from local collector Fritz Noetling that Belgian geologist Aimé Rutot was also comparing Tasmanian Aboriginal stone artefacts to eoliths, in collaboration with German physiologist Max Verworn.18 By the time he left, Westlake had gained a clear sense of the long-standing significance of the Tasmanian Aborigines in the development of comparative evolutionary theory.


Westlake found it strange that no European scientist had made the decision to go earlier.19 ‘People have been saying for the last 50 years that this ought to be done, but no one does it,’ he reflected from Hobart.20 But had they? For fifty years, scholars had studied the Tasmanian Aboriginal culture from Europe. They had relied upon a network of contacts that relayed artefacts and information from the colony to the metropolitan centres. Westlake had ignored the system of colonial collector and metropolitan anthropologist, which earned kudos and prestige on both sides. He neither deferred his findings to experts and museums, nor did he represent them. ‘I asked no one in England whether I should come,’ Westlake wrote to his children, ‘but just came.’21


Why did he go? If the collections of stone implements in the British Museum had struck him as Eolithic the moment he saw them, why did he need to go and form his own collection? Why not carry out ‘armchair’ anthropology as had been practised for fifty years? The answer was because Westlake had always gone into the field.


His first field had been Hampshire. He had criss-crossed the New Forest hundreds of times and investigated most of the wells, railway and road cuttings. His journeys had extended into neighbouring Wiltshire, and across Britain and into France in search of chalk fossils, palaeoliths and eoliths. It was, for him, a natural extension of that practice to travel to Australia to collect Aboriginal stone tools. Westlake also held that anthropology should be practised in the field, observing living societies. In this he seems more influenced by Australian anthropologist Baldwin Spencer than the American Franz Boas, who pioneered the participant–observation method of anthropology. Westlake met Spencer in Melbourne in 1908 and in 1910, and was impressed by his groundbreaking fieldwork with Central Australia Aboriginal communities. Spencer ‘knows how it should be done,’ Westlake reflected.22 He felt his own efforts in Tasmania were inferior to Spencer’s, because Spencer was ‘one of the very few scientists who have seen the Blacks making and using stone tools’.23


There was also his penchant for quantity. Westlake had never been a collector satisfied with a few stone tools or a representative ‘type-set’. Westlake accumulated stones in the tens of thousands. He believed that the size of a collection—the range, breadth and repetition—would more properly realise the reason for collecting it. Westlake collected around 27,000 stone artefacts throughout his life.


More than sheer volume, Westlake always sought to examine any artefact in its location. When he learned that Rutot and Verworn were comparing Tasmanian artefacts sent by Tasmanian collector Fritz Noetling, he countered: ‘They can’t do it as well remaining in Germany, for the thorough study of anything one must see it where it is in its original state.’24 When Noetling refused to tell Westlake where he got his collections, Westlake was frustrated, because it was important to get things ‘at first hand’.25


The stones and the landscape from which they came could not, in Westlake’s mind, be easily disconnected and still make sense. In Europe, Westlake had determined the age of artefacts by studying the landscape geomorphology, and by sequencing geological strata exposed in railway or well cuttings or by his own excavations. In Tasmania, however, he did not dig for stones, partly as he assumed there was no history to unearth, and partly as he had no need to—the artefacts lay upon the surface in the thousands, an ironic testimony to a long Aboriginal occupation.


In this way Westlake’s collecting was more like the Australian than the British collectors of his time. They too were rapacious surface collectors who shared Westlake’s enthusiasm for going into the field. There are thousands of Aboriginal stone tools in the storerooms of Australian museums.26 Westlake believed it was essential to see the artefacts’ original environments to ascertain if they were fashioned from locally sourced rock, even in the Aboriginal quarries, or exported to different locations to be manufactured.


There is also a far simpler and more encompassing answer to the question why Westlake went to Tasmania. He was a collector. He sought to possess, own, acquire, obtain. Collecting was a cultural pursuit of his generation and class. His comparative project was one part of a popularisation of natural history inspired by evolutionary theory from the mid nineteenth century, but it also had a longer history. Filling cabinets and museums, both public and private, with rare and exotic curiosities—geological, ornithological, zoological, ethnographic—had followed on from and flourished since the early expansion of Empire. ‘Collecting was a form of hunting,’ writes historian Tom Griffiths. Collectors often mimicked the hunters whose artefacts they sought. They too became nomadic, they travelled far, camped out, brought home their quarry. They were protective of their territory. Noetling refused to tell Westlake his collecting sites; he considered Westlake a rival.27 Collecting had ‘intimations of war, hunting prowess … and “manly pursuits”.’ If Westlake was a Quaker and a vegetarian, he was also a cyclist and a camper. He collected as he aspired to live. He joined that ‘outdoor school of character formation’ from which nineteenth century natural history collecting drew its inspiration, and had among its heroes Robert Baden-Powell and Theodore Roosevelt.28


Westlake rarely did what was normal or what he was told. He approached the practice of Tasmanian Aboriginal anthropology with the same disregard for convention that he had for faith, fashion and philosophy. He did not carry out anthropology by correspondence. He did not study stone tools from the comfort of his study. He packed his bags (and his bicycle and tent) and left.





Leaving home



Fordingbridge, late September 1908


Westlake’s journey began at Fordingbridge Station, standing near the little brick waiting room and the wooden porter’s office. It was a familiar scene: the white picket platform fences and slatted benches, the ivy-clad station master’s house on the opposite platform with its curved iron porch, and the square wooden signal box beyond. Autumn yellows had begun to colour the surrounding trees and fields.


[image: image]


Fordingbridge Railway Station, around 1900. The line was closed in 1964. [Hale, 2011]


He had come back to Fordingbridge to pack his camping gear and sort through his French geological notes, which he planned to write up during the two-month sea passage from Liverpool to Hobart. He left a draft of a letter to the White Star Line shipping company amid his descriptions of the Aurillac Valley: ‘I do not eat meat + my friends who have been by your line say that your dietary consists so largely of meat that I shall get weak before I reach Australia.’ Westlake had sent ahead to the Port of Liverpool forty tins of pineapple and other fruits, ‘protein preparations’, powdered milk and cheese and bottled lemon juice along with his bicycle.1


He turned and scanned the steep bank that rose behind the platform. Some years ago, on this spot, he had noticed an implement while stepping into a train. It had been unearthed when workers shifted gravel to raise the platform. The ‘edges were perfectly sharp, showing it had not been derived from higher levels, but been made on or near the spot by Palaeolithic man.’2
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